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i 

INTRODUCTION 

Petitioner, Roy Dwayne Thomason, was the defendant in the 

trial court and appellant on appeal. Respondent, the State of 

Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee on 

appeal. The parties will be referred to in this brief as 

"Defendantll and "the State." The symbol lIR" will constitute a 

reference to the record on appeal. The symbol "SR" will constitute 

a reference to the supplemental record filed in the district court 

of appeal.  The symbol "T" will constitute a reference to the trial 

transcr-ipt filed with the district court of appeal in case no. 90- 

2394, and adopted by previous order of that court as a part of the 

record in the present case. 

STAT-NT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

On December 17, 1988, Defendant was charged by information in 

the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida with one count of armed 

kidnapping, two counts of armed sexual battery and one count of 

aggravated assault ( R  15). 

Trial began on March 5, 1990, at which time the S t a t e  nolle 

prossed the aggravated assault count. The trial ended with the 

declaration of a mistrial over the objection of both Defendant and 

the State. 

Subsequently, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss and f o r  

Discharge (R 46-56), asserting that there had existed no manifest 

necessity f o r  the mistrial and that it would therefore constitute 
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double jeopardy to retry him. The State filed a written response 

to the motion (R 57-58). 

At the hearing on the motion (SR 1-22),l the parties 

stipulated to the facts set forth in the motion and to the trial 

transcript (SR 4 ) .  

The stipulated facts from the motion were as follows: 

On March 5, 1990, trial commenced in this 
cause. Trial continued throughout March 6th 
and 7th and on the afternoon of March 7th, the 
State rested (Transcript, hereinafter referred 
to as " T " ,  460-461). Subsequently that 
afternoon, seven defense witnesses were called 
and testified. Six completed their testimony. 

At approximately 5 : 4 5  p.m. (T 612) , while 
the seventh defense witness was testifying on 
direct examination, Defendant's attorney 
became very white and shaky and was physically 
supported by the prosecutor ( T  6 1 2 ) .  

As a result of Defendant's counsel's 
illness, t h e  court adjourned the proceedings 
f o r  the evening ( T  603). 

The next morning, March 8th, when trial 
was scheduled to resume ( T  6 0 3 1 ,  Defendant's 
counsel collapsed in her office and, when this 
fact was made known to the court, the jury was 
excused f o r  the day (T 612). 

On the following morning, March 9th, 
Uef endant ' s counsel was present in court and 
indicated her readiness to proceed ( T  608) * 
She stated that upon completion of the 
testimony of the witness that was on the 
stand, the only  other witness that might be 
called by the defense would be Defendant ( T  
609). 

Defendant personally indicated his 
confidence in his attorney's ability to 
proceed and the fact that he did desire to 
proceed (T 6 3 4 - 6 3 6 ) .  

Despite these statements from Defendant 
and his attorney, the court expressed concern 

'The judge to whom this case was assigned and who presided at 
t h e  trial was the Honorable Me1 Grossman. The motion was heard and 
ruled on by the Honorable William P. Dimitrouleas, in light of an 
order entered by Judge Grossman removing himself from consideration 
of the motion. Defendant's plea was ultimately entered before the 
Honorable Leroy Moe. 
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over resuming the trial in light of 
Defendant's counsel's physical condition and 
the lack of any assurances from a doctor that 
Defendant's counsel was capable of proceeding 
(T 612-616, 636-641). The court referred to a 
phone call his secretary had received from the 
secretary of a doctor Defendant's counsel had 
known for years but who had not treated her 
during the prior few days to the effect that 
there ought to be a postponement to allow 
Defendant's counsel to attend to her personal 
medical needs ( T  614). 

With regard to assurances from doctors, 
Defendant's counsel told the court that she 
had discussed the court's desire for 
assurances with one of the doctors who had 
t rea ted  her the previous two days; t ha t  the 
doctor indicated that he felt that she was 
fine, and that he would not  have released her 
otherwise; and that the doctor provided her 
with his phone number for the court to speak 
with him ( T  642-643). She also indicated that 
she had attempted to reach the other doctor 
who had treated her, had been unable to do so, 
but would try to do so again if the court 
would give her  30 minutes or so ( T  642-643). 

Obviously concerned about the court's 
misgivings, the prosecutor repeatedly 
expressed the opinion that if the court 
ordered a mistrial, double jeopardy would 
preclude a r e t r i a l  ( T  616-619). The 
prosecutor asked that if the court was 
concerned with Defendant's counsel's health, 
it postpone the case rather than order a 
mistrial ( T  617, 652). He also noted that the 
case would be over after the parties finished 
with the witness on the stand, Defendant, if 
he testified, and possibly one rebuttal 
witness (T 652). 

Both the defense (T 643) and the 
prosecution ( T  652) specifically objected to a 
mistrial. 

The court then called as a witness 
Hilliard Moldof, an attorney. He testified 
that he had observed Defendant's counsel that 
morning and thought "perhapsn1 she was not 
realizing that "she was a bit inappropriate" 
for not having recognized that her client was 
in the courtroom, that his feeling was that 
she "might" have still been under some type of 
medication, that he had "some concerns" about 
the ability to go forward and that he would 
want to make sure that she felt capable of 
going forward (T 6 5 4 - 6 5 6 1 ,  
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The comment on Defendant's presence was a 
reference to the fact that at one p o i n t  during 
the hearing, counsel was unaware that 
Defendant was present ( T  611). The events 
that led up to that occurrence, apparently 
unknown to Mr, Moldof, included the fact that 
prior to the hearing beginning, Defendant's 
counsel had noticed that Defendant was not 
present and had asked that he be brought 
immediately to the courtroom ( T  611); the fact 
that Defendant's counsel left the courtroom 
after the request, engaging in what the court 
described as a "flurry of activity outside the 
courtroom (T 614)," in an effort to obtain the 
medical assurances the court wanted (T 611, 
6 4 2 - 6 4 3 ) ;  and the fact that Defendant's 
counsel came back into the courtroan when the 
case was called and therefore immediately 
begin addressing the court without looking to 
the box, which was behind her and which was 
where Defendant was located ( T  611, 638,  6 5 5 ) .  

The hearing ended when the  court declared 
its belief that based "On the court's 
observations of and the appearance and 
demeanor of counsel during the course of the 
trial today," it had no other choice but to 
declare a mistrial (T 657-658). 

(R 4 6 - 4 9 )  

The trial court denied the Motion to Dismiss and f o r  Discharge 

(R 59-61). 

A Petition for Writ of Prohibition was then filed in the 

Fourth District Court of Appeal (case no. 90-2394). The petition 

asserted that the double jeopardy provisions of both the United 

States and Flo r ida  Constitutions barred Defendant's retrial and 

that the trial court should be prohibited from proceeding in the 

cause. After the filing of a response and a reply to the response, 

the petition was denied without opinion. 

Following the denial of the petition, Defendant entered a plea 

of nolo contendere to the charge of armed kidnapping and to two 

counts of aggravated battery, as lesser included offenses of the 

armed sexual battery counts (R 3). Adjudication was withheld and 
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Defendant was placed on probation for f i v e  years,  with credit for 

the time spent in custody prior to the entry of the plea (R 3 1 ,  

Defendant also specifically reserved his right to appeal and to 

have reviewed the denial of his Motion to Dismiss and for Discharge 

(R 3 ) .  Both sides agreed that the issue involved was dispositive 

of t he  case (R 7-8). The plea was accepted ( R  11) and its terms 

were imposed by the court (R 11-12, 76-77). 

Without opinion, and by a 2-1 vote, the Fourth District Court 

of Appeal affirmed the order placing Defendant on probation. 

Thomason v. State, 594 So.2d 310 ( F l a .  4th DCA 1992). Judge Stone 

wrote a specially concurring opinion and Judge Farmer wrote a 

dissenting opinion. On rehearing, the court certified the 

following question as one of great public importance: 

UNDER WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES MAY A TRIAL 
JUDGE SUA SPONTE DECLARE A MISTRIAL, FREE OF 
DOUBLE JEOPARDY CONSEQUENCES, BASED ON HIS 
SUBJECTIVE IMPRESSION THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL IS 
NOT COMPETENT TO PROCEED? 

594 So.2d at 318. 

This proceeding follows. 
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POINT INVOLVED 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING 
DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND FOR 
DISCHARGE ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS, WHEN A 
MISTRIAL HAD BEEN DECLARED OVER THE OBJECTION 
OF BOTH DEFENDANT AND THE STATE IN A SITUATION 
IN WHICH (1) THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT 
DEFENDANT'S COUNSEL WAS NOT CAPABLE OF 
PROCEEDING WAS CONTRADICTED BY COUNSEL'S 
PRESENCE IN THE COURTROOM, RESPONSIVENESS TO 
THE SITUATION AND ASSURANCES TO THE COURT AND 
BY THE FACT TIiAT A DOCTOR HAD ASSURED COUNSEL 
THAT SHE WAS CAPABLE OF PROCEEDING; ( 2 )  
DEFENDANT PERSONALLY INDICATED A DESIRE TO 
PROCEED; ( 3 ) THE STATE'S ALREADY WEAK CASE HAD 
BEEN DEVASTATED BY THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S 
TESTIMONY THAT SHE IDENTIFIED THE ALLEGED 
WEAPON BY THE INITIALS PLACED ON IT BY A 
POLICE OFFICER SUBSEQUENT TO THE ALLEGED 
OFFENSES, AND; (4) THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO 
CONSIDER OTHER ALTERNATIVES OR HOLD AN 
EVIDENTIARY HEARING? 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Defendant contends that the trial court's proceeding further 

after the declaration of a mistrial over his objection and that of 

the State violated his right under the United States and Flo r ida  

Constitutions n o t  to be placed twice in jeopardy. 

A mistrial declared under the circumstances of this case must 

be justified by objective factors and is proper only when no other 

alternative exists. The trial cour t  here relied upon its own 

subjective impressions and not upon appropriate objective factors. 

There simply existed no manifest necessity for the mistrial, 

as there must be in order for a defendant to be retried after a 

mistrial is declared over his objection. 
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The trial court here declared the mistrial because of its 

concern for the health of Defendant’s counsel. This action was 

taken despite the fact that counsel was present in the  courtroom; 

was responsive to the questions and comments of the court, the 

prosecutor and the witness; and assured the court that she was 

ready to proceed and that a doctor who was prepared to speak to the 

court by phone had told her that she was capable of proceeding. 

Moreover, at the time the mistrial was declared, Defendant 

personally indicated his satisfaction with his counsel and his 

desire to proceed, a desire that is more than understandable in 

light of the fact that the State’s case, a weak one to begin with, 

was devastated by the alleged victim’s testimony that she 

recognized the knife allegedly used by Defendant by the initials on 

i t s  handle, initials placed on the knife hours after the alleged 

offenses by the police officer that impounded it. 

Given the facts of this case, there existed insufficient 

evidence to conclude that a manifest necessity existed for a 

mistrial. The trial court‘s action denied Defendant his valued 

right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal and was 

taken without the consideration of other alternatives that must be 

employed before it is appropriate to declare a mistrial over a 

defendant’s objection and without conducting an evidentiary 

hearing. 

Thus, the trial court erred in its declaration of a mistrial 

and further proceedings beyond that point constituted double 

jeopardy . 
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ARGUMENT 

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S 
MOTION TO DISMISS AND FOR DISCHARGE ON DOUBLE 
JEOPARDY GROUNDS, WHEN A MISTRIAL HAD BEEN 
DECLARED OVER THE OBJECTION OF BOTH DEFENDANT 
AND THE STATE IN A SITUATION IN WHICH (1) THE 
TRIAL COURT'S CONCLUSION THAT DEFENDANT'S 
COUNSEL WAS NOT CAPABLE OF PROCEEDING WAS 
CONTRADICTED BY COUNSEL'S PRESENCE IN THE 
COURTROOM, RESPONSIVENESS TO THE SITUATION AND 
ASSURANCES TO THE COURT AND BY THE FACT THAT A 
DOCTOR HAD ASSURED COUNSEL THAT SHE WAS 
CAPABLE OF PROCEEDING; (2) THE DEFENDANT 
PERSONALLY INDICATED A DESIRE TO PROCEED; (3) 
THE STATE'S ALREADY WEAK CASE HAD BEEN 
DEVASTATED BY THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S TESTIMONY 
THAT SHE IDENTIFIED THE ALLEGED WEAPON ]BY THE 
INITIALS PLACED ON IT BY A POLICE OFFICER 
SUBSEQUENT TO THE ALLEGED OFFENSES, AND; (4) 
THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER OTHER 
ALTERNATIVES OR HOLD AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING. 

A 

OVERVIEW AND CERTIFIED QUESTION 

On March 9, 1990, Defendant Roy Dwayne Thomason, who had been 

incarcerated for the previous 14 and a half months despite having 

never- been convicted of a crime, was j u s t  a few hours away from an 

almost certain acquittal and freedom. 

The State's case, an extraordinarily weak one to begin with, 

had fallen apart during trial. Defendant thus had an extremely 

strong interest in exercising his right to have his case decided by 

the impaneled jury. 

Defendant was denied that right, however, by the trial court's 

- sua sponte declaration of a mistrial over t h e  objection of 

Defendant himself, Defendant's attorney and the prosecutor. The 

court's action was based on its own subjective impression that 

Defendant's counsel, who had become ill during the trial, was not 
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competent to proceed. The mistrial was declared despite the fact 

that Defendant’s counsel was present in the courtroom, and was 

responsive to the questions and comments of the court, the 

prosecutor and the witness. It was declared despite the despite 

the f a c t  that Defendant’s counsel assured the court that she was 

ready to proceed. It was declared despite the fact that 

Defendant’s counsel indicated to the cour t  that a doctor who was 

prepared to speak to the court by telephone had told her that she 

was capable of proceeding. 

The fact that the court disregarded these objective factors 

and relied on its own subjective impressions led to the certified 

question in this case: 

UNDER WHAT CIRCUMSTANCES MAY A TRIAL 
JUDGE SUA SPONTE DECLARE A MISTRIAL, FREE OF 
DOUBLE JEOPARDY CONSEQUENCES, BASED ON HIS 
SUBJECTIVE IMPRESSION THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL IS 
NOT COMPETENT TO PROCEED? 

It does not appear that any Florida case has addressed this 

question on that any Florida case has even dealt with a double 

jeopardy issue arising from a mistrial declared due to the illness 

of defense counsel. 

Nonetheless, consideration of the basic principles underlying 

the right not to be twice placed in jeopardy, cases from other 

jurisdictions and Florida cases dealing with illnesses of trial 

participants points to the answer expressed at the district court 

level, Thomason v .  State, 594 So.2d 310, 317-318 (Fla. 4th DCA 

1 9 9 2 1 ,  Farmer, J., dissenting, in the dissenting opinion of Judge 

Farmer. 
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To put it directly, the correct legal 
principle is that a trial judge may not 
declare a mistrial-- free of double jeopardy 
consequences-- on the basis of an alleged 
incapacity of defendant's counsel so near the 
end of the case where defense counsel is 
present in the courtroom asserting the ability 
to proceed, and both the State and the 
defendant expressly agree on the record that 
counsel is capable and should proceed. T h e  
only exception should be where the record 
demonstrates without contradiction that the 
alleged incapacity is objectively verifiable. 
The alleged inability to proceed may not be 
based s o l e l y ,  or even substantially, on the 
subjective impressions of t h e  trial judge, and 
it must be such that it cannot be cured or 
avoided by another alternative. The [United 
States v.] Perez [ 9  Wheat. 579, 6 L,Ed 165 
(182411 standard cannot properly be applied to 
abort a criminal trial over the collective 
objection of everyone, where the "disabled" 
lawyer is in the courtroom proclaiming the 
readiness to proceed and none of the 
alternatives to a mistrial were considered or 
tried. 

Applying this standard to the present case compels the 

conclusion that the mistrial should not have been declared and that 

Defendant was entitled to discharge on double jeopardy grounds. 

B 

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS 

It is well settled that when a mistrial is declared over the 

objection of a defendant, it constitutes double jeopardy to retry 

that defendant unless there existed a "manifest necessity" for the 

mistrial. United States v. Dinitz, 424 U.S. 600, 9 6  S.Ct. 1075, 47 

L.Ed.2d 267 (1975); United States v. Perez, 9 Wheat. 579, 6 L.Ed 

165 (1824). The power to declare a mistrial under such 

circumstances "ought to be used with the greatest caution, under 
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urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes.I1 Id., 
9 Wheat. at 580, 6 L.Ed at 165. 

This is because the constitutional protection against being 

twice placed in jeopardy embraces a defendant's valued right to 

have his trial completed by a particular tribunal. Oreqon v. 

Kennedy, 456 u , S ,  667, 102 S.Ct. 2083, 72 L.Ed.2d 416 (1982); 

United States v. Dinitz, supra; Wade v. Hunter, 336 U.S. 684, 69 

S.Ct. 834, 93 L.Ed. 974 (1949). 

When a mistrial is declared over a defendant's objection, the 

burden of showing that the mistrial was justified by manifest 

necessity is a heavy one. Parce v. Bvrd, 533 So.2d 812 (Fla. 5th 

DCA 19881, rev. denied, 542 So.2d 988 (1989); State v. Collins, 436 

So.2d 147 (Fla. 2d DCA 19831, rev. denied, 434 So.2d 889 (Fla. 

1983); Spaziano v. State, 429 So.2d 1344 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). Any 

doubt must be resolved "in favor of the liberty of the citizen." 

Downum v. United States, 372 U.S. 734, 738, 83 S.Ct. 1033, 1035, 10 

L.Ed.2d 100, 104 (1963), quoting from United S t a t e s  v. Watson, 28 

Fed.Cas. 499 (1868). A trial court's discretion is subject to the  

tes t  of reasonableness which requires a determination of whether 

there is logic and justification for the result. Parce v. Byrd, 

533 So.2d 812, 814 (Fla. 5th DCA 19881, rev. denied, 542 So.2d. 988 

(Fla. 1989). 

In t h e  present case, the heavy burden of showing that a 

mistrial was justified cannot be met. This is true for a number of 

reasons. 
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C 

DEFENDANT'S VALUED RIGHT TO HAVE H I S  
TRIAL COMPLETED BY A PARTICULAR TRIBUNAL 

In the first place, it is clear that Defendant personally 

wanted the trial to proceed. Moreover, not only d i d  he express 

complete satisfaction with his attorney's condition, but he also 

had a compelling reason for wanting the case to be decided by the 

impaneled tribunal. The alleged victim testified that she was able 

to identify the knife that was allegedly used by the initials that 

she observed on it ( T  266-269). The initials about which she 

testified, however, had been placed on the knife hours after the 

alleged crime by the police officer who impounded it (T 512-513). 

Thus, the credibility of the State's key witness had been severely 

damaged and Defendant had a strong interest in having the case 

decided by the jury that heard the witness' testimony in this 

regard, testimony that would not likely be repeated in a subsequent 

trial. 

Defendant's interest in this regard was accentuated by the 

fact that the State's case was far from strong. It depended on the 

credibility of the alleged victim. That credibility was undermined 

not only by her testimony regarding the knife, but also by the 

testimony of Doctor Sudha Doshi. Doctor Doshi, who examined the 

alleged victim on the day of the alleged offense at the Broward 

County Sexual Abuse Treatment Center ( T  532-5331' testified that 

the tears she found in the alleged victim's vagina were old tears, 

not tears that occurred on that day (T 534-535), that she found no 

sperm (T 5 4 0 ) '  that the alleged victim had no abrasions or bruises 
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in the area of her genitalia or her thighs ( T  536) and that the 

scratch mark on the alleged victim's shoulder was four or five days 

old ( T  5 3 6 ) .  

Moreover, the alleged victim's statement to the police that 

the Defendant ejaculated in her mouth and that she then spit into 

an article of clothing (T 562) was undermined by the fact that no 

seminal fluid was found on the clothing ( T  4 5 9 )  or on the swabs 

from the alleged victim's throat ( T  5 5 4 ) .  

Although the court's decision to grant a mistrial appears to 

have been based on a commendable concern for the welfare of 

Defendant's counsel and for the ensuring that Defendant received 

effective representation in the waning s tages  of the trial, the 

choice between a mistrial to deal with those concerns and the 

valued right to have a trial completed by a particular tribunal is 

one that Defendant, not the court, had a right to make. Under such 

circumstances, the important consideration for purposes of double 

jeopardy is that a defendant retain primary control over the course 

to be followed. Dinitz, suma, 424 U . S .  at 609, 96 S.Ct. at 1080; 

47 L.Ed.2d at 275. Defendant here was not given that control, even 

though he made his wishes very clear and even though he had an 

extraordinary reason for wanting to proceed. 

It should also be noted with regard to the trial court's 

possible motive that such a factor is accorded "little or no 

weight" in a double jeopardy analysis. Whitfield v. Warden of 

Maryland House of Connection, 486 F.2d 1118, 1123 (4th Cir. 1 9 7 3 1 ,  

cert. denied, 419 U.S. 876, 95 S.Ct. 139, 42 L.Ed.2d 116 (1974) * 

See also People v. Gardner, 37 Mich.App. 520, 195 N . W . 2 d  6 2 ,  6 8  
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(1972) ("It is not enough that a mistrial in the instant case was 

declared for the benefit of the defendant. We must, instead, look 

at the circumstances of the case to determine whether the trial 

judge correctly determined in a 'scrupulous exercise of judicial 

discretion,' that a manifest necessity prevented the ends of 

justice from being served by a continuation of the proceeding."). 

Moreover, the question of what "benefits" a defendant is frequently 

debatable and therefore must be determined by the defendant, not by 

t h e  judge. See Lovinqer v. Circuit C o u r t  of the 19th Judicial 

Circuit, 845 F.2d 739, 744 (7th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 

851, 109 S.Ct. 136, 102 L.Ed.2d 108 (1988) ("We cannot presume that 

the defense deems itself hurt rather than helped. * .  . 'I ; United 

States v. Sanders, 591 F.2d 1293, 1298 (9th Cir. 1979) ("The 

judge's reason f o r  declaring the mistrial was to avoid 'prejudice 

as far as the defendant is concerned' ~. . . Y e t , .  . . it is more likely 
that he would have benefitted rather than suffered,..."). 

The court's declaration of a mistrial therefore denied 

Defendant his valued right to have his trial completed by a 

particular tribunal. Instead, the court made the decision that its 

subjective impression took precedence over Defendant ' s  right in 

this regard and as a result Defendant was not allowed to have an 

attorney in whom he had confidence finish the trial of his case 

before a jury that he wanted to determine his fate. 

14 



D 

INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE 

Additionally, Defendant maintains that there was not 

sufficient evidence before the court to justify the conclusion that 

counsel was not capable of proceeding. 

Defendant’s counsel was present in the  courtroom. She was 

responsive to the questions and comments of the  court’ the 

prosecutor and the witness. She assured the cour t  that she was 

ready t-o proceed and that a doctor who was prepared to speak to t he  

court by phone had told her that she was capable of proceeding. It 

is also of significance that the trial was almost over and that 

whatever the physical condition of Defendant’s counsel, there was 

not that much longer that she would have to function. 

The court’s reliance on i t s  own subjective impressions, the  

highly equivocal observations of one witness and a phone call to 

the court’s secretary from the secretary of a doctor who had not 

even treated Defendant’s counsel during the time period in question 

simply is insufficient to justify the court’s action. It is 

doubtful that the factors the court relied upon would satisfy even 

a preponderance of the evidence test, must less meet the heavy 

burden required to demonstrate manifest necessity for a mistrial. 

Parce v. Byrd, supra; State v. Collins, supra; Spaziano v. State, 

supra. 

15 



E 

THE FAILURE TO CONSIDER OTHER ALTERNATIVES 

Obviously, if there are reasonable alternatives to declaring 

a mistrial, there is not a manifest necessity for a mistrial. In 

the present case, whatever concerns the court had could have been 

accomplished by the use of the procedure suggested by the 

prosecutor, a postponement. This procedure also would have 

preserved Defendant’s right to be tried by the impaneled j u r y .  

Additionally, in light of the presence of Defendant’s counsel in 

the courtroom, the court could have simply resumed trial and 

observed whether Defendant‘s counsel was in fact functioning 

appropriately. 

The principle that a court must consider all alternatives 

before declaring a mistrial is one that has been applied in Florida 

cases dealing with the illness of trial participants other than 

defense counsel. 

In Bryant v. Stickley, 215 So.2d 786 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968)’ the 

court dealt with a situation in which a mistrial was declared 

without the defendant’s consent when the prosecutor was 

hospitalized f o r  bleeding ulcers. The appellate court found that 

retrying the defendant would have constituted double jeopardy in 

light of the fact that the trial court did not determine how long 

the prosecutor would be absent and whether that time period was 

sufficiently short that the trial could have continued after a 

brief delay. A similar conclusion was reached in Ostane v. Hickey, 

385 So.2d 110 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), when the trial court failed to 
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determine whether a recess would have alleviated the problem that 

resulted when an essential State witness was stabbed in front of 

the courthouse during the trial. 

Certainly, the need to consider a postponement here was even 

greater than was the need in Bryant v. Stickley and Ostane v. 

Hickey. In each of those cases, the individual in question was 

hospitalized. Here, Defendant's counsel was present and able to 

answer any questions about her condition, Moreover, she had a 

phone number that the court could have used to call the doctor who 

treated her and who indicated that she could proceed. 

Additionally, she told the court that if she was given 30 minutes, 

she could attempt to locate the other doctor who treated her so 

that the court could also speak to him. 

A conclusion similar to that of these Florida cases was 

reached in Dunkerley v. Hoqan, 579 F . 2 d  141 (2d Cir. 19781, cert. 

denied, 439 U . S ,  1090, 99 S.Ct. 872, 59 L.Ed.2d 56 (1979). In that 

case, on the third day of trial, the defendant was hospitalized 

with a 15% collapsed lung. Three doctors indicated t h a t  

hospitalization would be required for a period of from seven to 10 

days * The defendant's counsel suggested as one alternative 

suspending the trial f o r  the seven to 10 day period, following 

which the trial could be resumed or the situation reviewed to 

determine whether a mistrial would be appropriate. The trial court 

re jected the defense position and on its own motion declared a 

mistrial. The federal appellate court concluded that since there 

was no reason apparent in the record why the requested continuance 
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would have been unfeasible or unfair, the defendant was entitled to 

habeas corpus relief on double jeopardy grounds. 

It appears that only when a delay would be so extensive as to 

disrupt the truth finding process should a court declare a mistrial 

over objection rather than a continuance as the result of an 

illness of a trial participant. For instance, in United States v. 

Von Spivey, 895 F . 2 d  176 (4th Cir. 1990), the defendant's counsel 

failed to appear due to illness. After an adjournment of six days, 

the court declared a mistrial upon learning that the defendant's 

counsel was hospitalized and that it appeared unlikely that he 

would return in the foreseeable future. Likewise, in United S t a t e s  

v, Wayman, 510 F.2d 1020 (5th Cir. 19751, cert. denied, 423 U.S. 

846, 96 S.Ct. 84, 46 L.Ed.2d 67 (19751, the defense attorney was 

injured in an automobile wreck during the third week of trial. 

Five days later, a mistrial was declared when it was evident that 

the attorney, who was still in the hospital, would not recuperate. 

The distinction between cases in which a reasonable delay can 

solve a problem and those in which a lengthy or indeterminable 

delay would be required is clear. The present case is certainly 

one in which whatever problems that might have existed could have 

been remedied by the postponement suggested by the prosecutor. 

Accordingly, the declaration of the mistrial was inappropriate. 
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F 

At the time the issue regarding the physical condition of 

exercise his right under Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 9 5  

such circumstances, the trial would have proceeded. Clearly, 

Defendant would have been better Served by proceeding while 

represented by his counsel, even if his counsel was not functioning 

at 100 percent ,  than he would have been by representing himself. 

Thus, if the situation in which he would have represented himself 

would not constitute a manifest necessity for a mistrial, as it 

c lea r ly  would not under Faretta, the conclusion is compelled that 

there was no manifest necessity for declaring a mistrial rather 

than allowing the trial to proceed with Defendant represented by 

his counsel. 

G 

THE TRIAL COURT‘S FAILURE TO HOLD 
AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

The lack of a manifest necessity and the appropriateness of a 

reversal of the judgment in this case is also demonstrated by the 

opinion in K l e i n f e l d  v. State, 568 So.2d 937 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), 

rev. denied, 581 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1991). That case dealt with a 

situation in which the defendant wished to represent himself. 

After first agreeing to such representation, the trial court 
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reversed its ruling and the defendant‘s request to represent 

himself was denied due to reasons of health. Although earlier 

proceedings had been concerned with t h e  defendant’s health, there 

was no evidence presented at the hearing at which the trial court 

determined that the defendant would be represented by counsel. On 

appeal from the subsequent conviction, the court reversed, holding 

that before a defendant’s health can form the basis to preclude him 

from representing himself, an evidentiary hearing must be held. 

The reasoning in Kleinfeld is directly analogous to the 

present case. The right to continued representation by an attorney 

and the right to have a trial decided by a particular tribunal are 

no less basic rights than the right to self-representation. The 

reasons for requiring an evidentiary hearing on the issue of health 

are equally valid when the health in question is that of a 

defendant seeking to represent himself or when it is that of an 

attorney who has already represented a defendant during three days 

of trial. 

The decision of the trial court to rely on his own medical 

judgment in the face of assurances to the contrary, rather than to 

hold the evidentiary hearing contemplated by Kleinfeld, therefore 

also demonstrates the lack of a manifest necessity for mistrial. 
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THE ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT‘S MOTION 
TO DISMISS AND FOR DISCHARGE 

The order denying Defendant’s motion simply ignores some of 

the most significant facts relevant to the issue raised by the 

motion. 

Perhaps most significantly, the order does not even mention 

the fact that Defendant’s attorney, as an officer of the court, 

indicated to the court that she was ready to proceed, that one of 

the doctors who had treated her had indicated that she was fine, 

that doctor had provided her with his phone number for the court to 

speak with him and that she was willing to attempt to get in touch 

with the other doctor, 

Additionally, the order denying the motion fails to take into 

account the fact that Defendant‘s counsel was responsive to the 

questions and comments of the court, the prosecutor and the 

witness. I n  f a c t ,  Defendant’s counsel was lucid to the point that 

even the prosecutor repeatedly expressed the opinion that if the 

court ordered a mistrial, double jeopardy would preclude a retrial, 

another fact that order denying the motion did not  consider. 

Moreover, the order denying the motion gives little weight to 

a factor of great significance, Defendant’s personally expressed 

desire to proceed with his attorney before the jury that had been 

impaneled to t r y  his case. Indeed, the order does not even address 

the factor that the Supreme Court of the United States recognized 

as being the most important consideration in issues of this nature, 
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the right of a defendant to retain primary control over the course 

to be followed. See Section C of this argument. 

The order makes the conclusory statement that the trial court 

"considered available alternatives (R 60) . This conclusion is 

wholly unsupported by the record. A s  detailed in Section E of this 

argument, the trial court could have telephoned the doctor that was 

available to speak with him, could have had Defendant's counsel 

locate the other doctor, could have, as the prosecutor requested, 

postponed the case or could have, particularly in light of the fact 

that the trial was in its waning stages, resumed the trial and 

revisited t.he issue if problems arose. There is no reason apparent 

from the record, argued by the prosecution or evident from the 

court's order why one or more of these alternatives could not have 

been utilized, Indeed, the order even recognizes another court may 

have exercised its discretion by postponing the case (R 60) + Under 

the authorities discussed in Section E of this argument, the 

existence of these alternatives demonstrates the lack of manifest 

necessity and the merit of Defendant's motion, factors that cannot 

be negated by an order with a simple conclusory sentence, 

unsupported by the record. 

Rather than consider the factors discussed above, the order 

relied upon the court's conclusions and interpretations of various 

portions of the transcript. Even accepting these conclusions and 

interpretations at face value, they cannot outweigh the previously 

discussed considerations that are not addressed in the order and 

that compel the conclusion that it would constitute double jeopardy 

to retry Defendant. 
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Defendant further maintains that the conclusions and 

interpretations set forth in the order should not  be accepted at 

face value, as many of these matters cannot be supported by the 

record, are taken out of context or are irrelevant. An analysis of 

the portions of the order that set forth such conclusions and 

interpretations demonstrates this fact. 

Paragraph one of the order states that the trial court 

requested medical assurances that Defendant's counsel would be able 

to continue with the trial, and concludes that "[tlhose assurances 

did not come (R 59) . ' I  

In fact, the assurances did come. Counsel informed the court 

that such assurances had been given by one of the two doctors and 

even told the court that she had the telephone number for the court 

to use to speak with the doctor if the court desired ( T  642-643). 

Counsel further indicated that she would attempt to also reach the 

second doctor if the Court desired (T 6 4 2 - 6 4 3 ) .  Clearly I 

therefore, the assurances requested by the court were provided. 

Indeed. the fact that the trial court did not call the doctor and 

the fact that the trial court in stating its reasons f o r  declaring 

the mistrial ( T  657-658) did not refer to a lack of assurances but 

only to courtroom observations makes it clear that the trial court 

felt that. its request for assurances was in fact complied with. 

Paragraph two of the order reads as follows: 

On March 9, 1990, Ms. Morrison 
[Defendant's attorney] appeared in court in an 
agitated state with a hospital band on her 
wrist. (T 614). She mistakenly called the 
Judge a doctor and said that she was mistaking 
her judges and her doctors. ( T  605). She 
mentioned that there was no easy way out, ( T  
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609), and she did not notice that her client 
was in the courtroom during her initial ten 
minute presentation to the Court. ( T  611). 

( R  5 9 )  

These events must be placed in the context of the stipulated 

facts set forth in the motion, facts which are not referred to in 

the order and which include: 

. . . the fact that prior to the hearing 
beginning, Defendant's counsel had noticed 
that Defendant was not present and had asked 
that he be brought immediately to the 
courtroom ( T  611); the fact that Defendant's 
counsel left the courtroom after the request, 
engaging in what the court described as a 
"flurry of activity outside the courtroom ( T  
614)," in an effort to obtain t h e  medical 
assurances the court wanted ( T  611, 6 4 2 - 6 4 3 ) ;  
and the fact that Defendant's counsel came 
back into the courtroom when the case was 
called and therefore immediately began 
addressing the court without looking to the 
box, which was behind her and which was where 
Defendant was located ( T  611, 638, 6 5 5 ) .  

Given this context, several things become clear. First, 

having come directly from several telephone calls to and about 

doctors and having begun addressing the court immediately upon 

entering the courtroom, little, if any, significance can be given 

to a slip of the tongue in referring to the court as a doctor. Any 

doubt in this regard is put to rest by the fact that the mistake 

was not repeated and the context of counsel's statements throughout 

the hearing plainly reflected that she realized she was speaking to 

a judge. These same factors demonstrate that the reference to 

confusing her judges and her doctors, made immediately a f t e r  the 

doctor reference, was merely a humorous aside and not a statement 

of medical condition, as the order seems to imply. 
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It is also clear that in light of the fact that counsel had to 

immediately address the court upon her entrance to the courtroom, 

it was not unreasonable for her not to notice Defendant's presence, 

particularly since Defendant had not been present when she was last 

in the courtroom and since Defendant was located behind her in the 

courtroom. Indeed, the fact that when she had been in t he  

courtroom earlier that morning, she had noted Defendant's absence 

and asked that he be brought to the courtroom demonstrates a full 

awareness of the circumstances surrounding her. 

The statement t h a t  there was no easy way out was made in 

opposition to the declaration of a mistrial and was an absolutely 

accurate statement. Under  t h e  facts of this case, the "easy way 

out," t h e  declaration of a mistrial, was not available due t o  

double jeopardy considerations. Unfortunately, the trial court did 

not listen to this warning and declared the mistrial that has led 

to this proceeding. 

The fact that counsel had the hospital band on her wrist 

demonstrates little more than the fact that she had been to the 

hospital the day before and had not gotten around to removing it, 

hardly unreasonable in light of the need to consult with Defendant 

and to prepare for the anticipated resumption of trial. 

The reference to counsel being in an agitated s t a t e  is a mere 

conclusion that is made without any facts offered in support. 

Paragraph three of the order reads a s  follows: 

The Judge was presented information from 
Dr. Ginsburg that Ms. Morrison was under 
stress and had a history of hear t  problems. ( T  
6 2 3 ) .  Dr. Israel was quoted as saying that 
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she needed to attend to her 
( T  6 3 8 )  I 

medical problems. 

(R 5 9 )  

The record reflects that Defenc ant's counsel informed t n e  

court that Doctor Ginsburg had indicated that she had been under a 

lot of stress (T 6 2 3 ) '  but not that she had a history of heart 

problems. Rather, counsel followed up the comment regarding stress 

by explaining its source, the fact that her mother needed heart 

s u r g e r y  and the fact that her father had died from such a condition 

( T  623-624). 

The interpretation in the order of the transcript reference to 

Doctor Israel cannot withstand scrutiny either. The order refers 

to a portion of the transcript in which the trial court stated, 

"This Court this morning had contact from the office of one Doctor 

Israel which office indicated that they thought that she needed to 

attend to her medical needs at this time ( T  6 3 7 - 6 3 8 ) . "  

This statement must be interpreted in light of the stipulated 

facts set forth in the motion, which noted that the contact the 

court had had with Doctor Israel's office was a phone call the 

court's secretary had received fromthe secretary of Doctor Israel, 

who had known Defendant's counsel for years, but who had not 

treated her during the few days prior to the hearing (R 4 7 )  - 
Indeed, Doctor Israel had been in California at the time and was 

not due back until the following Monday (T 628). Plainly, such a 

communication has little weight when compared with assurances from 

a doctor that had treated Defendant's counsel the day before. 
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Paragraph four of the order finds that the trial court was 

concerned about Defendant's counsel's health, the integrity of the 

system and the effect of the stress of a trial on Defendant's 

counsel. 

no weight" in a constitutional analysis. Whitfield v. Warden of 

Maryland House of Correction, 486 F.2d 1118, 1 1 2 3  ( 4 t h  Cir. 1 9 7 3 1 ,  

cert. denied, 419 U.S. 876, 95 S.Ct. 139, 42 L.Ed.2d 116 (1974). 

After all, the impact on a defendant is the same regardless of the 

reason why a mistrial is declared. "Reprosecution after a mistrial 

has unnecessarily been declared by the trial court obviously 

subjects the defendant to the same personal strain and insecurity 

regardless of the motivation underlying the trial judge's action. 'I 

United States v. Jorn, 4 0 0  U.S. 470, 483, 91 S.Ct. 547, 556, 27 

L.Ed.2d 543, 555 (1971). Moreover, with regard to the impact of 

t h e  stress of a trial, most of that stress had already impacted, as 

the trial w a s  nearly over. Certainly, counsel would be exposed to 

a greater amount of stress in a complete retrial than she would 

have been by completing the final stages of the initial trial. 

Paragraph five of the order reads as follows: 

During the March 9, 1990, hearing, Ms. 
Morrison threatened to sue her doctor ( T  629) 
and otherwise exhibited an inappropriate 
affect in t h e  courtroom. (T 639). Witness and 
attorney, Hilllard Moldof, testified that her 
behavior was somewhat inappropriate (T 654). 

(R 5 9 )  

The statement about suing the doctor was made in the context 

of noting that she had been unable to see or speak with Doctor 

Israel and expressing her displeasure with Doctor Israel's 
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secretary for, as previously discussed, communicating with the 

court under such circumstances (T 628-629). The very fact that the 

order under review relies on that inappropriate communication 

demonstrates that counsel was fully justified in being displeased 

with the  actions of Doctor Israel's office. Her displeasure in 

this regard, however, in no way demonstrates an inability to 

proceed. Instead, it reflects the ability to recognize the nature 

of one of the factors the court was discussing. 

The reference to counsel otherwise exhibiting an 

"inappropriate affect" in the courtroom is another conclusion that 

is not supported by reference to any facts. 

The reference to Mr. Moldof testifying that counsel's behavior 

"was somewhat inappropriate" is taken out of context. Mr. Moldof's 

actual statement was that "I thought that perhaps Ms. Morrison was 

not realizing that she was a bit inappropriate in the sense of not 

recognizing the client was in the courtroom making an appearance in 

front of the Cour t  (T 655; emphasis added). 

First of all in this regard, Mr. Moldof's testimony, as 

demonstrated by the underlined portions of the preceding quote, was 

significantly less definite than the characterization contained in 

the order. Second, it referred only to the fact that Defendant's 

counsel did not realize Defendant was present, a fact that has been 

previously explained in this brief in light of circumstances 

apparently unknown to Mr. Moldof. 

With regard to Mr. Moldof , s  testimony, it should also be noted 

that counsel represented to the court that persons fromDefendant's 

counsel's office who were present in the courtroom felt that 
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counsel was competent to go forward ( T  629). For whatever reason, 

the court, who, after a recess and without any notice, called Mr. 

Moldof as a court‘s witness, chose not to also call the witnesses 

that had been represented to the court as believing that counsel 

was competent to proceed. 

Paragraph six of the order reads as follows: 

At that hearing, Judge Grossman found 
that she had been lost and somewhat 
disoriented during the trial. ( T  636). One 
incident of an out-burst in the hall during a 
recess in the trial was noted where Ms. 
Morrison told an alleged rape victim’s mother 
that the victim was a liar. ( T  647). 
Additionally, Judge Grossman expressed 
concerns that the record might support a claim 
of ineffective assistance of counsel. ( T  629). 

The concerns expressed in this paragraph all deal with matters 

that occurred prior to the time that counsel encountered her 

physical problems. They are therefore of no relevance. The issue 

was whether counsel was, at the time of the hearing on March 9, 

1990, physically capable of proceeding, not whether she had 

render-ed effective representation prior to that point. The 

transcript references in the order fail to give any indication that 

any problems that might have existed with regard to these matters 

were in any way likely to continue had the trial resumed following 

the medical treatment counsel had received. 

Nonetheless, to whatever extent the concerns expressed in 

paragraph six of the order are relevant, several factors should be 

noted. First of all, the trial court stated only that counsel 

“seemed at times during her questioning and particular cross 
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examination of witnesses to get lost and become somewhat 

disoriented in handlinq of material ( T  636; emphasis added)," not, 

as indicated in the order, that she had been lost and somewhat 

disoriented during trial. Again, the comment amounts to no more 

than a conclusory statement, supported by no specifics. 

Additionally, there is not even a conclusory statement that counsel 

was affected in any substantive way, but only in how she handled 

her material. 

The incident regarding the mother of the alleged victim 

occurred after the second day of trial. The last witness of the 

day, -m had indicated under oath that the State's key 

witness, the alleged victim, , had, during the 

trial, been talking to both R--and to I ' j l s  

mother, a possible witness, about the case ( T  306-315). After 

legal argument ( T  3 1 8 - 3 2 7 ) ,  the court directed Defendant's counsel 

and the prosecutor to make inquiry of each witness regarding the 

matter and stated that he would entertain any appropriate motions 

the following morning ( T  327). 

The following morning, Defendant's attorney and the prosecutor 

had different versions of what had occurred the preceding evening 

( T  330-346) . Defendant s counsel indicated that she asked - 
-whether she spoke to any of the witness and that she 

responded in the negative ( T  337). Counsel indicated that she 

asked again and received the same answer (T 337). Counsel then 

told the prosecutor that based on that answer, she wanted - - in court the following morning, because they all knew that 
her response was not true and that she had in fact spoken to other 



witness (T 3 3 8 )  . At that point, the witness indicated that she had 

only talked about a couple of issues ( T  3 3 8 ) .  She then said that 

she had only talked to her mother (T 3 3 8 ) .  She then admitted to 

one of the conversations that -'had testified about (T 

3 3 8 )  . During this conversation, \ s  parents were 

making hissing noises and comments. After awhile, counsel 

responded to the comments by saying that she was sorry, but that 

she didn't believe their daughter ( T  339). 

The prosecutor offered a different version of the events, 

indicating that Defendant's counsel told the parents that there 

were serious credibility problems and that nobody believed their 

daughter (T 3 3 2 )  and that the parents became upset and said that if 

you're saying that my daughter is lying, you tell that to her 

therapist (T 334) ." 
The conflicting versions of the events were never resolved by 

the court, but the court did not rgbuke or take any action against 

Defendant's counsel, so it is apparent that the matter was not of 

great concern to the court at the time it happened. In examining 

the record, it seems apparent that this was a situation in which 

the parties simply took a different view of the nature of comments 

made in an appropriate, and, indeed, court ordered, setting. It 

was not, as the order implies, a situation in which counsel 

 he comment about the therapist led to a legal issue 
regarding the State's knowledge of that fact and the question of 
whether psychological records should have been provided in 
discovery ( T  341-346), an issue that is itself irrelevant to the 
present proceeding. The fact that Defendant's counsel recognized 
and raised the issue, however, demonstrates her awareness and 
ability to function appropriately at a time that was apparently 
deemed significant by the court in its denial of Defendant's 
motion. 



gratuitously directed inflammatory comments to the mother of the 

witness. The question of whether counsel may or may not have 

expressed herself in stronger language than was needed is an issue 

totally independent of the question of whether there existed a 

manifest necessity for a mistrial. The reference to this matter in 

the order is therefore both irrelevant and taken out of context. 

The trial judge’s comment regarding a claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel is another example of a conclusory comment 

with no effort to support it by reference to any specific facts. 

In order  for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel to 

prevail, there must be a showing of a specific ac t  or omission of 

counsel which constituted a substantial and serious deficiency 

measurably below that of competent counsel and a reasonable 

probability of a different result had the omission or act not 

occurred. & Strickland v. Washinqton, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 

2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Middleton v. S t a t e ,  465 So.2d 1218 

(Fla. 1985). There is not even a hint that either of these two 

criteria can be established here, so the comment regarding 

ineffective assistance of counsel, even assuming it had anything to 

do with counsel’s physical condition on March 9, 1990, should be 

given no weight whatsoever. Indeed, if the trial had ended at the 

time Defendant’s counsel needed medical attention, and Defendant 

had been convicted, a subsequent ineffective assistance of counsel 

claim, based solely on the facts set forth in the trial court’s 

order, would not even warrant an evidentiary hearing. 

Moreover, it is inappropriate for a trial court to interfere 

with a defendant‘s rights based on that court’s own subjective 
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belief that counsel is ineffective. This PrinCiPe is demonstrated 

by the decision in Finkelstein v. State, 574 So.2d 1164 (F1a. 4th 

DCA 1991) 

In Finkelstein, the Defendant's attorney, a Chief Assistant 

Public Defender, asked the trial court to delay a suppression 

hearing until after the court determined a pending motion to 

determine the defendant's competency to proceed. When the Court 

declined to do so, the attorney took the position that he could not  

properly proceed until final determination of the defendant's 

competency. 

The trial court then ordered that the attorney be removed from 

the case and, over the defendant's personal objection, appointed 

another attorney to represent the defendant. The trial court 

entered an order which stated that the initial attorney's refusal 

to proceed denied the defendant his Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel. The order went on to state, "The Court has the obligation 

to insure that an accused has a right to competent counsel. Where 

counsel's performance falls below that standard the Court has the 

inherent authority and the duty to remove that counsel and to 

appoint competent substitute counsel." Id., at 1167. 
The appellate court granted certiorari in Finkelstein, 

concluding that the order removing the initial attorney was a 

departure from the essential requirements of law. 

The decision in Finkelstein is directly analogous to the 

present case. If it is inappropriate for a trial court to rely on 

it subjective belief that an attorney is providing 

representation as a basis f o r  removing that attorney 

ineffective 

from a case 
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over a defendant's objection, it is equally inappropriate f o r  a 

trial court to rely on that factor in declaring a mistrial over a 

defendant's objection. Further, this reasoning is particularly 

applicable to the present case, because the trial court here not 

only declared a mistrial, but also ordered that counsel, who had 

been appointed, be removed from the case and that the Public 

Defender handle the matter ( T  658). 

-- See also Cross v. State, 813 P . 2 d  691, 6 9 6  (Alaska A p p .  1991) 

(Manifest necessity did not "arise from the mere possibility that 

Cross might, at some later point, claim ineffective assistance of 

counsel. ) . 

It is therefore clear that t h e  factual conclusions and 

interpretations relied upon in the  order, which, as previously 

discussed, are  insufficient on their face to outweigh the facts 

detailed in this motion and ignored in the order, are themselves 

severely flawed. When viewed in context, they provide little 

support for the finding that a manifest necessity existed for the 

declaration of a mistrial and they in now way undermine the 

arguments set forth in this motion. 

Discussion of one other aspect of the order is also called 

for. The order c i t e s  to State ex rel. Williams v. Grayson, 90 

So.2d 710 (Fla. 1956) and Reyes v. Kelly, 204 So.2d 534 ( F l a .  2d 

DCA 1967) for the principle that "[oJne example of a manifest 

necessity would be the illness of a judge, accused or juror ( A  

3 9 )  . ' I  Those cases, however, both specifically limit the example 

cited in the order to "the illness of the judge, the  accused, or a 

juror requirinq the absence of any of them from the  court.'' State 
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ex rel. Williams v. Grayson, supra, 90 So.2d at 713; Reyes v. 

Kelly, supra, 204 So.2d at 537 (emphasis added). Here, as detailed 

previously, at time the mistrial was declared, counsel was present 

and prepared to proceed. The decisions in State ex rel. Williams 

v. Grayson and Reyes v. Kelly are thus inapplicable to the present 

case. F u r t h e r ,  t h e  reasoning of those cases is specifically 

limited to the judge, the accused or a juror and does not extend to 

defense counsel. When defense counsel is ill, any prejudice that 

might occur by proceeding would attach solely to a defendant and he 

or she should therefore be entitled to weigh that prejudice against 

the benefit of proceeding. With the situations discussed in the 

cases cited in the order, even the absence of the defendant in 

situat-ions such as one in which the prosecution wants a witness to 

make an identification, prejudice could attach to either the 

defendant or the prosecution and therefore other considerations 

must be taken into account. Finally, with regard to the cases 

cited in the order, it should be remembered that they do not  change 

the requirement discussed previously in this brief that the court 

consider other alternatives, including delaying the proceedings, a 

requirement that was not met here. 
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CONCLUSION 

The foregoing argument and authorities demonstrate clearly 

that when a defense counsel becomes ill, the factors to be 

considered in deciding when a trial court may sua sponte declare a 

mistrial, f ree  of double jeopardy consequences, are objective, 

rather than subjective in nature. It is, as stated in the 

dissenting opinion of Judge Farmer in the appellate court, only 

when counsel's alleged incapacity is objectively verifiable and 

when no other alternative is available that a mistrial may be 

properly declared. also United States v. Bates, 917 F.2d 388, 

395 (9th Cir. 1991) ("Determining that a mistrial was proper and 

retrial permissible because reversal was certain is an objective, 

not subjective, inquiry to be based on the record as it existed at 

the time of the mistrial."). 

In the present case, the trial court relied on its own 

subjective impression, rather than the factors discussed in the 

authorities cited in this brief. Under the double jeopardy 

provisions of both the Untied States and Florida Constitutions, 

proceeding after the declaration of a mistrial constituted double 

j eopar-dy , There was plainly no manifest necessity for the 

declaration of the mistrial and Defendant was deprived of his right 

to have his trial completed by the tribunal chosen to decide the 

case, a right that was particularly important under the facts of 

this case. Further, there was no consideration of clearly viable 

alternatives to a mistrial. It was therefore error for the trial 
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* 

court to deny Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and for Discharge. The 

affirmance of the judgment by the Fourth D i s t r i c t  Court of Appeal 

was thus also erroneous and this court should reverse the decision 

of t h e  appellate cour t  and remand this mat te r  with directions that 

Defendant be discharged.  

Respectively submitted, 

P. 0. Box 6-2032 
Miami, FL 33116-2032 
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